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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Downing House is a two-story, brick building exhibiting features of both Greek
Revival and Italian Villa architectural styles. Highlighted by a three-story tower,
the house is further distinguished by prominent quoins, a modillioned cornice and a
mixture of round-arched and linteled windows. Although twentieth-century frame
additions partially obscure the original exterior plan of the structure, these
alterations could be removed easily, restoring the building to near-original appear-
ance,

Overall dimensions of the house, excluding the frame garage on the south, are
approximately 68' north-south and 48' east-west. The house is constructed of brick
laid in common bond and currently painted white. The plan consists of a rectangular,
north-facing block, with a square tower centered on its eastern facade and a T-shaped
section located on its southeast edge, its eastern end alligned with that of the tower.
Evidently the house was built in two stages, as the bricks do not interltace between
the various sections.

The main block, which appears to have been built first, is Greek Revival in style.
Its northern gable end forms the primary facade, and a modillioned cornice frames

the pediments on both gable ends. Floor-length, double-hung windows pierce the three-
bay northern facade, and a wrought iron balcony provides interest at the second story
Tevel. The tower and rear section, which lend the building the appearance of the
Italian Villa style, appear to have been built after the main block. However,
construction ang decorative details indicate they were probably built shortly after
the main block.¢ Three stories in height, the tower is pierced by tall, round-arched
windows. The quoins and modillioned cornice of the main block are continued on the
tower and on the rectangular, two-story portion of the rear biock. Alterations
obscure the construction details of the one-story, rear kitchen,

During the twentieth century, successive alterations were made which modified the
exterior appearance of the house, The open area between the tower and the rear
block, which had been the location of a balustraded balcony, was entirely enclosed.
The rear kitchen wing was completely enveloped in additions. A balustrade which had
capped the tower was removed, as were the original, louvered window shutters. The
porch nestled in the northeast corner of the house was raised slightly and modified,
and its original balustrade was replaced. The east entrance, under that porch,
superceded the north door as the primary entryway. A two-story, frame garage was
censtructed on the south, adjoining the kitchen wing.3

The interior of the house also suffered many alterations. Its capacious rooms were
partitioned into smaller areas; all but one of the many original fireplaces were
closed off; many of the original pine floors were covered; plumbing was added; and

the high ceilings were lowered. Fortunately, despite these modifications, most of

the exceptioral Greek Revival woodwork which characterized the interior remains intact.
Classically inspired surrounds, consisting of pilasters supporting entablatures with
dentate bands and projecting cornices frame the doorways and windows of the major
first floor rooms. Simpler, eared surrounds frame the openings of the remaining

first and second floor rooms.




1

Farm No. 10-300a
Ikey 1074}

UNUED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

RECEIVED
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DAYE ENTERED

DOWNING HOUSE

CONTINUATION SHEET i ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE ]

The Downing House is Tocated in a quiet, residential area about ore and 1/2 blocks

from the Memphis courthouse square. Despite insensitive alterations, the house retains
many of its salient features. It is structurally sound and has recently been equipped
with a new wood shingle roof. The Scotland County Historical Society is in the pro-
cess of removing partitions and lowered ceilings, with the ultimate goal of complete
restoration of the house as a community center and local historical museum.

FOOTNOTES

1. The theory of the two-stage construction of the Downing House was advanced by
W. Philip Cotton, Jr. in consultation with the Scotland County Historical Society.

2. The two stages of construction may reflect a delay or interruption of the com-
pletion of the original design, rather than a stylistic shift from Greek Revival
to Italian Villa. Early examples of the Italian Villa style, such as Henry A.
Sykes' Stebbins House in Springfield, Mass., often retained prominent Classical
features while incorporating elements such as towers and round arched windows
into the design. See: Henry Russell-Hitchcok, Architecture: Nineteenth and
Twentieth Centuries (Baltimore: Penguin Books, 1971), pp. 138-139.

3. During the period the house functioned as a hotel, a large frame addition was
added on the west. Although since removed, the outline of that wing is still
evident on the west facade.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

One of the oldestremaining structures in Scotland County, the Downing House is an jmpor-
tant northeast Missouri example of a house incorporating architectural elements of both
the Greek Revival and Italjan Villa styles. The home was built ca. 1858 for William G.
Dawning, Scotland County pioneer and prominent Memph1s citizen. Recently acquired by
the Scottand Courity Historical Socéiety, the house has become the foca] paint .of .an |
enthusiastic local preservation effort. = "~ v' L
One of Scotland County's earliest settlers, William G. Downing (1821-1901) came to
issouri from Fauquier County, Virginia, with his father and brother in 1837. Reaching
Scotland County, the family settled in the Smoot reighborhood about efght miles west

of Memphis, in an area known as the "Pulled Tight" district. There Downing taught
school, later moving to Memphis and establishing a thriving mercantiie business. In
1853 he was appointed one of the original trustees of the town of Memphis, and in 1884
he was appointed a member of the Board of Railroad and Warehouse Commissioners of
Missouri, serving in that capacity until 1891.17

Downing built his house ca. 1858, utilizing the labor of slaves he brought with him from
Yirginia. Thomas J. Broadwater, alsoc a Virginian, was hired as contractor? and Solomon
Jenkins, architect of the Scotland County Courthouse (1858), is thought to have been
the architect. Although Jenkins' earlier known works, such as Westminster Hall, the
State School for the Deaf, and the State Mental Hospital (all in Fulton, Mo.) were wholely
Classical in style, his Brannock Hall (1856) at Central Methodist College in Fayette was
an experiment in the Italian style, with two assymetrical towers flanking a central,
pedimented bay.3 A similar, square, flat-roofed tower adorns the Downing House, suggest1ng
the hand of Downing in the second stage of construction at least. In addition, Jenkins,
Braodwater and Downing were all involved in Ehe construction of the Scotland County Court-
nouse, as is evidenced in the court records.” Downing may well have provided some of his
slaves for hire in the construction. At any rate, he was certainly acquainted with Jenkins
and the Downing House bears such similarities with Brannock Hall as to suggest Jenkins as
the architect or consultant in the design and construction of the Downing House.

A variety of romantic legends recall the Downing House during the Civil War years.
According to one story, Down1ng, a southern sympathizer and slave owner, traded hcouses
with his friend and neighbor H.G. Pitkin, in order to spare his new1y-bu11t house from
destruction by Union soldiers.5 The house changed-hands several times afteér it was sold
by Downing in 1865, and eventually ge11 into service as the Park Hotel, a rooming house
for salesmen and theatrical people.® Follewing its use as a hotel, it changed hands
again and eventually was purcha;ed by Dr. A.M. Keethler, a prominent local citizen who
owned the house for many years.
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On September 1st, 1978, the Scotland County Historical Society obtained ownership of
the Downing House. The Society hopes to remove the extertor and interior alterations
which detract from the building's original integrity and to restore it as closely as
possible to its nineteenth-century appearance. Undoubtedly the mostarchitecturally
and histerically significant building in Memphis, the house will be a chofce location
for a museum and civic/cultural center.

The survey of Missouri's historic sites is based on the selection of sites as they
relate to theme studies outlined in "Missouri's State Historic Preservation Plan."
Therefore, the Downing House is being nominated to the National Register of Historic
Places as an example of the theme of "Architecture.”

FOOTNOTES

1. Biographical information on William G. Downing was found in: History of Lewis,
Clark, Knox and Scotland Counties, Missouri (St. Louis: The Goodspeed PubTishing
Co., 1887}, pp. 420, 429, 537, Walter Williams, ed., A History of Northeast
Missouri (Chicago: The Lewis Publishing Company, 1913}, p. 615; "Hard Boiled

Eggs Cause Death of William G. Downing," St. Louis Republic, April 10, 1901.

2. Mention of Broadwater as contractor of the courthouse and the Downing House was
found in cbituary notices (origin and date unknown) contained in the files of the
Scotiand County Historical Society, Memphis, Mo.

3. A study of public buildings known to have been constructed by Jenkins was included
by H. Gale Shipman in "Brannock Hall" (University of Missouri, Columbia, 1967).

4, County Court Book A, Scotland County, Memphis, Mo.

5. "Traded Residences to Prevent Destruction," The Memphis Reveille, September 18, 1941;
A.M. Keethier, "A History of the 01d Downing Property at 311 South Main Street"
{Memphis, Mo., 1967), p. 2. Marie Pitkin Bourn, granddaughter of H.G. Pitkin,
related this story in her handwritten history of the Downing House.

€. Bourn, handwritten history of the Downing House. In the Plat Book of Scotland
County, Missouri (northwest Publishing Co., 1898), p. 19, the Downing House 1s
shown labelled as "hotel."

7. Keethler, "A History of the 01d Downing Property," pp. 2. 3.
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2. leGene S, Padgett June, 1973

Scotland County Historical Society
Scotland County Courthouse
Memphis, Missouri 63555
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